

Literary and Artistic Metropolises

by Markian Prokopovych, Rosemary H. Sweet

Artistic and literary production are not inherently urban processes in themselves but they have always flourished in an urban context and the processes of cultural production have played a major role in urban economies. Literary and artistic metropolises have also acted as nodal points in networks of cultural exchange, their creative dynamism drawing strength from and encouraging the movement of people and ideas. Focussing on the period 1450–1930, this essay considers how and why certain cities have emerged as literary and artistic metropolises and the factors that enabled such a cultural flowering to take place.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The Renaissance City in Italy and the Low Countries
- 3. Rome: Art and Religion and the Rise of the Baroque
- 4. Cities of Print: From Venice to Antwerp and Amsterdam
- 5. New Patrons and Consumers: From Aristocrats to the Bourgeoisie
- 6. Marketing Art and Defining Taste
- 7. Print Culture and Urban Space
- 8. Music and Transnational Exchanges
- 9. The Rise of Paris
- 10. Fin-de-siècle Cultural Transfers in Architecture, Theatre and Music
- 11. 20th Century Avant-Garde Urban Circles
- 12. Conclusion
- 13. Appendix
 - 1. Bibliography
 - 2. Notes

Indices Citation

Introduction

Since antiquity a clear association has been made in western culture between literary and artistic activity and urban society. Artistic and literary institutions have been a defining element of urban life and essential to the rhetoric of urban civilization. In the modern era the concept of the "creative city" has been coined that assumes a direct correlation between urbanity and creative development. Thus Jane Jacobs (1916–2006) (>> Media Link #ab) famously argued in The Economy of Cities (1969) that the dense concentration of diverse populations in the urban environment created the precondition for innovation and economic development. Her argument has provoked scepticism from a number of quarters: cities are not and should not be seen as the only environments that produce, foster and encourage creativity and neither should we simply assume that, if certain criteria of size and heterogeneity are met, a burst of creativity is bound to happen. However, while this article cannot claim to provide an explanation of the complex relationship between creativity and (urban) economic development, by looking at creative metropolises from 1450 until 1930 we do intend to tackle those specific urban centres that succeeded in becoming literary and artistic centres of global significance from the early modern period onwards.

A 1

Whilst all urban societies can be said to engage in cultural production at some level there have always been certain cities that have been particularly renowned as centres of such activity and which we might describe as literary and artistic metropolises. For such cities the production and consumption of art (whether paintings, sculpture, architecture or

music) and literature becomes a key part of the urban economy, and also part of the city's identity and reputation. The relationship between a particular city and a specific cultural form is often so close as to be synonymous: for example, 17th-century Rome and the baroque or 19th-century Paris and the Beaux Arts movement. By literary or artistic metropolises, then, we understand cities which were centres for production, consumption and dissemination of the arts and literature on a global scale, which for the period 1450–1930s primarily meant Europe and its colonies (→ Media Link #ac). These literary and artistic metropolises emerged not least because they were also nodal points in other networks of communication and exchange (> Media Link #ad), and it was the very fertility of new ideas, new products, and technological innovation, as well as the resources of wealth and patronage in a flourishing urban economy, that enabled these cities to assume a role of cultural leadership. Thus we put special emphasis on the networks that link the cities to each other and, consequently, on those cities that succeeded in spreading their artistic production through the existing networks on the continental and transcontinental scale. At different points in European history a variety of cities have acquired reputations as literary or artistic metropolises: some, such as Rome, Paris or London, display an almost unbroken line of artistic and literary dominance across several centuries; others, such as New York arrived late on the scene; and some such as Dresden, or early 20th-century and interwar Moscow, flowered for briefer periods, but continue to be shaped by and benefit from the legacy of earlier cultural efflorescence, even if their literary and artistic influence diminished over time. Many other cities deserve our interest, too, and will be treated in the larger comparative context.

A2

Artistic and literary production are not inherently urban processes in themselves but they have always flourished in an urban context and in considering how and why certain cities have emerged as literary and artistic metropolises, it is worth identifying some of the reasons that enable such cultural flowering to take place. In the first instance the urban economy has always generated much of the surplus wealth essential for the purchase or commissioning of art and literature. The availability of capital and surplus wealth has also been essential for the technological innovations in cultural production, whether it be the investment needed for the printing press which underpinned the literary metropolis of the 16th century or the construction of theatres and opera houses in the 19th century. Due to their density of population, cities have also constituted a higher concentration of demand which encourages the production of high valued goods. Similarly, the urban economy offers a concentration of specialized skills, the product of higher levels of education, training and competition found in cities, whether provided through the guilds of early modern Europe or the art academies or the conservatoires of the modern period. The success of artistic and literary metropolises has also drawn upon the trading networks of the urban economy: these offer the means for sale and distribution of artistic productions and the dissemination of cultural influence. But equally importantly these networks have also been the channels through which new goods, new ideas (\rightarrow Media Link #af) and new talent (in the form of migrant labour (\rightarrow Media Link #ag)) arrived facilitating the innovation that has sustained cultural dominance.

▲3

In many centres, as artistic production became institutionalised, it was used to justify urban improvement, to promote local patriotism and to enhance prestige. Well-established artistic or literary metropolises have exploited their status to attract more innovation, more artists and more investment in the arts; centres which lacked a comparable cultural dynamic often aspired to create one, either through monarchical or state involvement or through the intervention of municipal authorities. Thus the influence of artistic and literary metropolises spreads not only through the exchange of goods and ideas, but also through emulation and urban rivalry. In some cases the "cultural capital" of being a literary and artistic metropolis has also helped to counteract the consequences of commercial or manufacturing decline. Finally, it is important to remember the importance of urban *space* as well as the urban economy in stimulating artistic and literary production: without the proximity of urban living there would not be the possibility for the cross fertilisation of ideas, skills and information that Deborah Harkness has identified as an "urban sensibility". Without the spaces of coffee houses or art galleries, there would not be the opportunities for the exchange of ideas, the development of the language, of taste and criticism, or for the emergence of a public that consumes the cultural products.

4

This essay begins with the cities that dominated the flowering of urban culture in the late 15th century commonly termed the renaissance. This is not the place to discuss the origins of the renaissance or the different interpretations, but in this context it is important to emphasise that it was, overwhelmingly, an urban phenomenon, concentrated in the urban

The Renaissance City in Italy and the Low Countries

Traditional histories of the renaissance often concentrate on the city republic of Florence, where Giotto di Bondone (ca. 1266–1337) (→ Media Link #ah) and Dante Alighieri (ca. 1265–1321) (→ Media Link #ai) are credited with having initiated the rebirth of literary and artistic culture in the 14th century. Florence demonstrates how commercial and manufacturing prosperity and a skills base in textile production gave rise to both literary and artistic production. It also exemplifies the very close connection between art and civic identity. Florence's wealth was based on textiles and banking: her trading networks (→ Media Link #aj) extended across Europe and to the East, ensuring supplies of raw materials such as wool and dyes, but also connecting Florence to networks of intellectual and artistic exchange. It was to Florence, for example, that the scholars of Constantinople fled in 1453 after the city fell to the Ottomans, where they provided a valuable impetus to her traditions of humanist (→ Media Link #al) scholarship. It was banking networks that facilitated the introduction of new styles and techniques from the Low Countries, such as painting in oils, seen most notably in the Portinari Altarpiece (→ Media Link #an) commissioned by the banker Tommaso Portinari (1429–1501) (→ Media Link #ao) from the Netherlandish artist Hugo van der Goes (ca. 1440–1482) (→ Media Link #ap) for his family chapel in Florence.

A 6

During the 14th and 15th centuries the prosperity consequent upon international trade had encouraged generous patronage of the arts as guilds, the chief political institutions of the city, vied with each other to commission artworks in churches, hospitals and other religious and civic buildings and spaces. Similarly surplus wealth stimulated the demand for luxury goods and other small works of art. Art offered the means to communicate power and prestige, commercial success and political influence. The decoration of the Duomo (→ Media Link #aq), for example, was allocated to the Arte della Lana who commissioned Filippo Brunelleschi's (1377–1446) (→ Media Link #ar) famous feat of engineering, the octagonal dome (completed 1436); they were also responsible for the city's major public space, the Piazza della Signoria, while the Arte dei Mercanti looked after the baptistery (→ Media Link #as). Thus Florentine art of the 15th century was largely public art in the service of the city state, the guilds or the religious community, commissioned out of religious piety and civic pride.⁷

▲7

By the 15th century the city had fallen increasingly under the dominance of a single family, the Medici, although ostensibly still a republic, and correspondingly the pattern of patronage shifted away from corporate bodies to private families, led by the Medici and their supporters. They modelled themselves on the patrician elite of ancient Rome, private individuals collecting art as an aesthetic experience for their own enjoyment, as well as making a statement of wealth, or civic pride or religious piety. Lorenzo de' Medici (1449–1492) (\rightarrow Media Link #at), like any princely ruler, was well aware of the capacity of art to enhance and legitimate power, and exploited it skilfully, both within Florence but also further afield, using art as a form of cultural diplomacy. He was the pivotal figure in the image of Florence's artistic achievements projected to the outside world, even as his banking empire collapsed around him. In the 16th century the Medici returned to Florence as Dukes of Tuscany and the artist and courtier, Giorgio Vasari (1511–1574) (\rightarrow Media Link #au), built on this image of Medici munificence and Florentine artistic excellence. In his Lives of the Artists (first published 1550) he created a narrative of the renaissance which was Florence-centric and with Medici patronage at its core. Thus the history of Florence over a 200 year period exemplifies different models of artistic and literary production and illustrates how a city's reputation as a centre of artistic excellence could become a valuable commodity in its own right, which subsequent generations worked hard to retain. He

Florence was one of a network of prosperous Italian cities through northern and central Italy, and in the Low Countries cities such as Bruges, Antwerp and Brussels similarly came to prominence amidst a more widespread boom in urban development based upon textiles and overseas trade. In these cities we find the same concentration of skill and sophisticated training structures dominated by guilds and the same generation of surplus wealth that encouraged the commission of art works for reasons of piety, civic pride or conspicuous consumption. Unlike the Italian cities, those of the Low Countries concentrated artistic production on smaller artworks on wooden panels that were easily exported along existing trade routes and the Pand market in Antwerp, for example, was the most important public art market in Europe. ¹¹ Venice was different again: as a bridge between east and west, it highlights the importance of overseas connections in sustaining an artistic metropolis. ¹² The constant traffic of goods and people from around the world facilitated the introduction of new goods and techniques, evident in the eclecticism of the city's unique architectural heritage, or the tangible influence of the Ottoman Empire upon Gentile Bellini's (ca. 1429–1507) (→ Media Link #av) portrait of Mehmet II (1432–1481) (→ Media Link #aw). ¹³

49

Rome: Art and Religion and the Rise of the Baroque

By the 16th century Florence, Bruges and latterly Antwerp were in economic decline as their trading networks were taken over by other cities. However, they did not lose their influence as artistic or literary (\rightarrow Media Link #ax) metropolises altogether, and past reputation continued to shape the cities' image through subsequent centuries. The dynamism of the creative hubs, however, moved to Rome and, by the late 16th century, to Amsterdam respectively. Rome, unlike Florence, never had a significant commercial or manufacturing base, but it did command, through the Roman Catholic Church, enormous resources of patronage and wealth. Ever since the return of the papacy to Rome in 1420, following the Avignon exile, the popes had been concerned to enhance their authority through the patronage of the arts, in many cases using Florentine trained artists, including most notably Raphael (1483–1520) (\rightarrow Media Link #ay) and Michelangelo (1475–1564) (\rightarrow Media Link #az). In the 16th century this took on new urgency in the Counter-Reformation (\rightarrow Media Link #b0), as the arts were co-opted into the battle against heresy and into the assertion of the Church's spiritual and secular authority. Rome's political, religious and cultural importance had never been higher and it became the centre of artistic innovation and the creation of a new art form – the baroque – the influence of which through art, architecture, music and sculpture, is still visible in cities across the world. ¹⁴

10

Whereas Florence or Antwerp benefited from the networks of international trade for the dissemination of style, goods and craftsmen, in Rome the networks were those of the Catholic Church itself, the most administratively advanced and sophisticated transnational organization of the early modern period. It was also the destination for thousands of religious pilgrims every year who were witnesses to the extraordinary displays of artistic achievement. The church's wealth created multiple opportunities for artists and craftsmen and the city soon developed the institutions to train them, with the establishment of the Accademia di San Luca (1577). Rome's importance as a training centre for artists across Europe is evident in the numbers of foreign artists who came to study in the city and the foundation of foreign academies such as the French Académie de France (1661). As a consequence the city's reputation as a centre of artistic excellence became an increasingly important aspect of its own self-promotion and one which was actively encouraged by the Papacy, whose collections in the Vatican Museums were amongst the first to be opened to visitors. Art became part of the city's identity and patrimony, celebrated in guidebooks bought by pilgrims and cultural tourists (→ Media Link #b1) from the 17th century onwards. ¹⁵ Rome was not only a centre for the patronage and execution of innovative art, but it was also, increasingly, a centre for its retail and distribution. During the 17th century shops specializing in paintings and antiquities sprang up, and middle men or dealers specializing in sale or commissioning of painters began to emerge. Rome also saw the development of an anonymous art market, with dealers such as Pellegrino Peri (1624–1699) (→ Media Link #b3) who employed migrant foreign artists to work for him producing paintings to order which would be sold to collectors. 16

The dynamic energy that had driven the innovations of the baroque era dissipated from the late 17th century, but nonetheless Rome's primacy as a centre for artistic production continued through the 18th and 19th centuries. ¹⁷ This was partly due to the concentration of artworks which defined the canon of European taste, and partly due to the institutions and infrastructure that had developed (from art academies to art markets) that drew artists and collectors to Rome. A sojourn in Rome was an asset in the career of any aspirant artist or architect and it was Rome's reputation as an artistic metropolis, combined with its legacy of classical antiquity (→ Media Link #b4), that sustained and continues to sustain much of its economic activity. ¹⁸

▲ 12

Cities of Print: From Venice to Antwerp and Amsterdam

By the 16th century, the widespread establishment of the printing press and the consequent development of print culture makes it possible to consider cities as literary metropolises: that is centres of literary production and consumption, in a way that is not possible even for centre of renaissance humanism such as Florence. Venice, for example, like other renaissance cities was also home to a flourishing tradition of humanist scholarship, but was unique in the rapidity with which the printing press became established. Venice's mercantile wealth meant there was ready availability of capital to invest in the new printing presses and by 1500 there were 150 Venetian presses churning out over 4,000 editions of different books. This output represented between an eighth and a sevents of the total production of Europe at the time. As the focal point of print production, Venice was also central in the exchange of ideas and informal academies grew up around the publishers such as Aldo Manutio (ca. 1450–1515) (→ Media Link #b5). 19 But Venice was also one of the earliest centres for the printing of music, reflecting both the vitality of the musical traditions in the city itself, and also an international reputation for specialist skill in printing that drew composers and musicians from across Europe. 20

▲ 13

Venice's mantle as the dominant city for print culture was challenged firstly by Antwerp and increasingly by Amsterdam during the 17th century (→ Media Link #b6). For both cities, like Venice, the wealth generated through international trade facilitated access to capital at low rates of interest which in turn encouraged entrepreneurial investment in the new technology of printing presses. In the mid-16th century Christophe Plantin's (ca. 1520–1589) (→ Media Link #b7) "printing plant" at the Golden Compass in Antwerp comprised 22 presses that employed 160 workmen utilising multiple fonts for printing in different languages for Antwerp's European market.²¹ In the 17th century, as Amsterdam took over the trading networks of Antwerp, it also found a ready market for printed books which could be exported in bulk, be they English Bibles, Hebrew texts for Eastern Europe, or forbidden texts for neighbouring France.²² Amsterdam, as a commercial city with a republican structure of governance, avoided the censorship of politics and religion that stifled debate elsewhere in Europe. Religious and political refugees flocked to Amsterdam and the Low Countries, bringing their traditions of scholarship and the city's traditions and networks of print culture ensured the wider dissemination of their ideas.²³ Most importantly Amsterdam became a centre of news (→ Media Link #b9) and newspaper production, effectively creating a format of communication that has become ubiquitous across the world. Amsterdam was an intellectual as well as a commercial *entrepôt* city.²⁴

▲ 14

New Patrons and Consumers: From Aristocrats to the Bourgeoisie

For all that the reputation of Rome and Florence as centres of literary and artistic excellence lingered on throughout the 18th and 19th centuries, sustained by the cultural institution of the Grand Tour (→ Media Link #ba), this was nonetheless a reputation that was largely historic and rested on former glories rather than current achievement. There was a strong sense amongst contemporaries that the impetus of artistic creativity had shifted northwards and westwards, to centres such as Paris and London, and to a lesser extent Berlin, Vienna or Dresden. In the latter cities the presence of the resident court and nobility provided the patronage and the cachet that attracted both the artists and other consumers. In capital cities and the *Residenzstädte* the arts were harnessed to the project of enlightened absolutism (→ Media Link #bb) and as a means of glorifying and legitimating the authority of the ruling prince. ²⁵ Royal

or aristocratic patronage remained essential for every art form during the 18th century, whether in the form of subscription, subsidy or sinecures. ²⁶ Art, music and literature did not, of course, come cheap; however, what is evident in the 18th century is that the market for such cultural products began to expand in response to the increasing significance of the urban bourgeoisie as consumers of and participants in artistic and literary production. From this sprang other developments such as the emergence of a sophisticated art market in cities; the development of a culture of public viewing, public taste, and discussion and the commodification and commercialisation of the arts and of leisure more widely defined. Across Europe it became widely accepted that the cultivation of the arts was an index of the degree of civilization to which that city or state had attained. These are themes which the following paragraphs will explore in more detail.

▲ 15

Marketing Art and Defining Taste

In London it is clear that the middling consumers of the rapidly growing city played a vital role in the development of the city's art market which rapidly emerged in the late 17th century effectively taking over from Amsterdam, as it had in the area of international trade. In 17th century Amsterdam, the wealth of the prosperous middle classes had generated a lively demand for smaller artworks, suitable for the home, depicting scenes familiar to a middling lifestyle such as the new genre of townscapes. These were produced by hundreds of artists and sold in their thousands at auctions to be purchased by a socially diverse community of merchants, craftsmen, dealers and collectors for largely private display. ²⁷ Like the Dutch, Londoners were apparently consumers with homes full of pictures, if not great artworks. By 1700 the city supported a sizeable community of artists, catering to the needs of a rapidly growing population with the discretionary income to purchase works of art to ornament their homes. ²⁸ At the other end of the market, well-heeled patrons returning from the Grand Tour imported paintings (and artists) to London on an ever increasing scale, or purchased them at auction. 29 Regular auctions in London's coffee houses soon established the city as one of the leading centres for the sale of paintings in Europe. Those who could not afford the price of oil paintings could purchase engraved prints in a rapidly diversifying market. The combination of highly skilled craftsmen, many of whom were Huguenots (→ Media Link #bc) who had fled to London from persecution in France, and the buoyant demand from London's middle classes, encouraged constant innovation and competition amongst the engravers. William Hogarth's (1697–1764) (→ Media Link #bd) Modern Moral Subjects – in which the city of London itself played a prominent part as the backdrop to his satire and social commentary – embody both the innovation of technique and the appeal to the values and morals of a decidedly bourgeois market characteristic of the time. 30 London also became a centre for the display of art and the discussion of taste: venues soon became established, emanating initially from the multi-functional spaces of coffeehouses and developing into the sale rooms of auction houses, or public spaces such as the Foundling Hospital, where Hogarth and Joseph Highmore (1692–1780) (→ Media Link #be) displayed their work, or the annual exhibitions of the Royal Academy in the latter part of the century. ³¹ In Paris, historians have similarly identified a shift away from exclusively private and aristocratic patronage of art towards a more public audience with the establishment of the Salon in 1737. This was an exhibition of paintings held in the Louvre by the Academy of Painting and Sculpture and, unusually for the time, open to the public. By 1781 it was attracting as many as 30,000 visitors and up to 10,000 catalogues were being printed. 32 Whilst there were many who complained at the invasion of the realm of "taste" by the "vulgar" there was no turning back. In Paris and London taste and connoisseurship became topics for public debate through the medium of newspapers and periodicals or in coffee houses and salons, where aristocratic influence was also having to make room for an increasingly influential bourgeois presence. 33

▲16

Print Culture and Urban Space

Print culture, then, was the bedrock on which the public audience for art was constructed and growth of the art world was inseparable from its literary environment. Throughout Europe falling prices and increased production meant that print culture was becoming a more affordable and accessible feature of urban life. For reasons of state censorship (→ Media Link #bf), as well as issues of infrastructure, markets and logistics, newspaper and book production were heavily weighted towards the capital cities such as Vienna, Paris and London. New formats (the periodical, the review) and new

genres (→ Media Link #bg), such as the novel and the essay, generated ever-widening opportunities for the profession of letters while the venues of coffee houses, salons, subscription libraries and booksellers' premises facilitated literary discussion and debate. 34 Landmark publishing ventures such as the 28-volume Encyclopédie ou dictionnaire raisonné des sciences, des arts et des métiers (→ Media Link #bh), 35 the definitive text of the Enlightenment (→ Media Link #bi). ³⁶ were a testimony to the sophistication of the Parisian printing industry, and the literary and physical spaces of communication in Paris that allowed the culture of enlightenment debate and inquiry to flourish. However, cheap and forbidden print culture, as Robert Darnton has shown, was even more abundant and effective at disseminating the more subversive ideas of the pre-revolutionary era through the communication networks of 18th-century Paris. ³⁷ Writers, like artists and musicians, were attracted to the metropolis by the opportunities for making a living through the pen. frequently settling in particular quarters, such as Grub Street in London (the name now synonymous with low literary standards and hack writing). 38 Similarly, as the book trade expanded, booksellers in different districts of London started to specialise in particular types of publication from novels and magazines at Covent Garden to newspapers and political tracts around Westminster hall.³⁹ In the 18th century, the first age of celebrity (itself a product of print culture), it was possible to become a public "man of letters", and amongst London's literary lions, the essayist and critic Samuel Johnson (1709–1784) (→ Media Link #bj) was the most famous. It was Johnson who famously opined that the man who is tired of London is tired of life, and the city's rich potential for literary representation first began to be exploited in the 18th century as a vehicle for satire and as the backdrop for novels from Daniel Defoe (1661–1731) (→ Media Link #bk) to Fanny Burney (1752–1840) (→ Media Link #bl). 40

▲ 17

Music and Transnational Exchanges

The growth of a public music and theatre followed a similar pattern to that of art and literature, as the patronage of a narrow court elite gave way to a more commercial and entrepreneurial system in which bourgeois taste and fashion (>> Media Link #bm) played an increasingly important role. Teresa Cornelys (1723–1797) (→ Media Link #bn), the Venetian born opera singer, was the most famous exemplar of the new-style of musical impresario in London. 41 Capital cities such as London and Paris flourished as cultural centres precisely because of the opportunities they offered for artistic entrepreneurial success and because they had acquired the reputation as centres of fashion, taste and innovation. ⁴² As the seat of government and the centres of elite society, as well as being commercial hubs, these cities exercised a powerful gravitational pull over the nation's cultural life. Theatres, the principal entertainment for fashionable society, proliferated: in Paris theatre capacity stood at a total of 13,000 (for a population of ca. 650,000) on the eve of the Revolution (→ Media Link #bo); in London state regulation restricted their number to three, the largest of which at Covent Garden could seat over 3,600 by the end of the century. 43 The number and quality of theatres became a standard index by which any city's claim to fashionable status could be judged. In Great Britain opera was a far more expensive form of entertainment and exclusively metropolitan, but unusually for the time, was run as a commercial business, reliant upon ticket sales and subscription for its survival, rather than princely patronage. 44 But, for those who were excluded by prohibitive prices, musical performances were available on a much more affordable basis through commercial pleasure gardens such as Vauxhall (→ Media Link #bp), where admission cost only a shilling. 45

▲ 18

Elsewhere in Europe for Italian cities such as Naples, Venice or Rome or German cities such as Dresden, theatre and music arguably assumed an even more prominent role in the absence of significant commercial or manufacturing developments. Here the provision of musical and theatrical entertainment played a central part in the cities' economies, dependent as they were on catering to the demands of resident nobility and attracting the custom of wealthy travellers making the tour of Europe. Private patronage, however − from the monarchy or nobility − provided an essential subsidy. He birthplace of opera, famously boasted seven theatres, more than any other city in Europe, and in Naples the magnificent Teatro San Carlo, under royal patronage, was a tourist destination in its own right. Musicians trained in Naples and Venice were in high demand across Europe: London played host to the castrato Farinelli (Carlo Broschi, 1705–1782) → Media Link #bq) in 1734 and in a single decade he performed in Rome, Vienna, Naples, Milan, Bologna, Munich, Venice, Vienna (again), London, Paris and finally Madrid. Metastasio (Pietro Trapasisi, 1698–1782) → Media Link #br), whose libretti for opera seria were translated → Media Link #bs) into all the major European languages of his day, or Carlo Goldoni (1707–1793) (→ Media Link #bt), the Venetian librettist who helped to transform

opera buffa into an art form, similarly moved from one 18th-century metropolis of music to another: from Rome to Vienna, from Venice to Paris. ⁴⁹ Farinelli's career illustrates the networks between centres of music education where the future singers were trained, centres of power such as royal and aristocratic courts and, if not identical with the latter, centres of large public audiences. The European success of Italian castrati, followed by that of classical opera singers, composers, virtuosi and the travelling ensembles performing music to increasingly modern and urban audiences, would have been unthinkable without the existence of this network. As the courts and the aristocracy gradually moved into permanent urban residence, training and learning music increasingly became an urban affair, too (seen in the 19th-century foundation of conservatoires). While the role of Italian training centres would remain pivotal for the emergence of music stars such as castrati and, later, opera singers, larger European capital cities such as Paris, London or Vienna were to become decisive for their eventual success. It is not difficult to see why this was the case: not only did music superstars require large audiences that only the largest cities could offer, but they also increasingly relied on the role of the press in the dissemination of this success and to generate a sense of expectation and anticipation amongst the audiences of the cities they visited. ⁵⁰ This eventually led to select music metropolises – Paris, Milan, Dresden, Vienna – dictating music taste and eventual success for every aspiring talent during the 18th and the 19th centuries.

▲ 19

The Rise of Paris

Few cities have been the subject of more attention in literature, the arts and scholarship than 19th-century Paris. 51 Following Walter Benjamin's (1892–1940) (→ Media Link #bu) Arcades Project, which equated Paris with the essence of the century. 52 many scholars interpreted the city variously as an embodiment of revolution, modernity, the spectacle of imperial and bourgeois representation and the cultural and artistic capital of the world. This extraordinary attention and the influence Paris had on other artistic and literary metropolises are unprecedented in modern history. ⁵³ The literary and artistic reputation of the most influential 19th-century Parisians – Honoré de Balzac (1799–1850) (→ Media Link #bv), Charles Baudelaire (1821–1867) (→ Media Link #bw), Émile Zola (1840–1902) (→ Media Link #bx) and the impressionists, to name but a few – span far beyond the city borders of the French metropolis. Each dedicated to the recording of the metropolis in their own way, they drew from the new poetics of urban modernity. Baudelaire's Les Fleurs du Mal is, in many respects, an opus dedicated to the modernisation of the French capital during the Second Empire and the entire Haussmannisation project, in which the poet saw as many signs of change as of decay. One of the most perceptive writers of the modern city and the inventor of the concept of a flâneur (later glorified by Benjamin), he was acutely interested and extremely influential in other arts, especially fine arts and music. While his literary success was due to the novelty and provocative character of his themes as much as his literary genius and skill, the fact that his work became an unprecedented success not only in Paris but also across the continent is largely due to his analysis of the artistic life of Paris of his time and the web of artistic networks within and beyond the Parisian capital to which he belonged.⁵⁴

▲20

What Baudelaire's example illustrates is the centrality of Paris as the art metropolis of Europe overshadowing all other larger cities, in which a fundamental transformation was taking place along with a high concentration of professional academic art institutions, fierce competition in art, music and theatre, the booming of salon culture, bohemian existence, and the emergence of new artistic movements. The new modern city and its distinct phenomena such as extreme density of population, social inequality, the luxury life of the upper class, and *flânerie* then became the subject of art itself. ⁵⁵ French Romantic art, of which Eugène Delacroix's (1798–1863) (→ Media Link #by) *Liberty Leading the People* (1830) (→ Media Link #bz) is perhaps the most familiar, had already begun to choose the contemporary city as one of its main themes. The emergence of the illustrated and the satirical press and the profession of caricaturist is another contemporary phenomenon characteristic of the July Monarchy. Honoré Daumier (1808–1879) (→ Media Link #c0), whose work is so highly praised today, surfaced in the arena of the hitherto highly restricted public art life of the city through his work in the journal *La Caricature*. After the fall of Louis-Philippe (1773–1850) (→ Media Link #c1) and the establishment of the Second Republic, realist art increasingly dominated public space, including the salons that had now become much less restrictive. Gustave Courbet's (1819–1877) (→ Media Link #c2) *Realist manifesto* (1855) proclaimed that art was no longer at the service of imperial representation. Although world exhibitions such as the Exposition Universelle, at which this manifesto was proclaimed, were largely meant to glorify the current political regime

and the progress that had been made in the realms of industry (→ Media Link #c3) and trade, it should not be forgotten that they were also major urban events in the sense that they were constructed in the main cities, often with strong municipal financial support, catered for the urban public, and allowed for a display of art that carried clearly different aims. Courbet's *Pavillon du Réalisme*, which was organised on the fringes of the Exposition, is a clear illustration of just how diverse and inspiring universal exhibitions could be. In the context of a permanent confrontation between the established and officially supported artists and the increasingly larger and growing group of independent artists in search of new modes of expression so typical of the French metropolis, the splitting of the Société Nationale des Beaux-Arts in 1890 from the Société des Artistes Français is illustrative. The split, often considered as the first artistic secession, was followed by similar developments in several other artistic centres of Europe. ⁵⁸ It created two equally prestigious salons in Paris that continued to dominate the artistic scene of the entire continent for decades: the Salon du Champs de Mars and the Salon de Champs-Élysées.

▲21

In the 19th century, Paris gradually replaced other cities in Europe as a main tourist destination and as a place of artistic education. While many still embarked upon a Grand Tour to Italy, a trip to and residence in the artistic guarters of Paris became pivotal for the success of so many careers across the continent that it would be impossible to mention even the most important names in this short article. The birth and development of Jugendstil in Berlin and Munich and Sezession in Vienna – or, for this matter, similar developments in other cities of Eastern and Central Europe, such as, for example, the emergence of the St. Petersburg journal Mir iskusstva (the world of art) – would have been impossible without intense contact with the artistic centres of Paris including but not limited to those working within the stylistic constraints of art nouveau. The Viennese Sezession movement, a large and heterogeneous group of artists loosely united under the ambition of abandoning the academic art of the main official artistic institution, the Künstlerhaus, which was dominated by historicism, in order to create art without historic precedent and based on entirely new aesthetics. was largely responsible for introducing the local public to French impressionism. At the same time, Sezession's offspring, Josef Hoffmann's (1870–1956) (→ Media Link #c4) and Koloman Moser's (1868–1918) (→ Media Link #c5) Wiener Werkstätte, indicate much stronger links with the British Arts and Crafts movement. ⁵⁹ As in early modern Florence and Amsterdam, fin-de-siècle art across the continent would be unthinkable without a large group of patrons, connoisseurs and supporters who provided the movement with financial support, as well as the eager and attentive public. In a parallel development, writers in other capitals targeted the modern city in their work. Charles Dickens' (1812–1870) (→ Media Link #c6) London, Arthur Schnitzler's (1862–1931) (→ Media Link #c7) Vienna, Franz Kafka's (1883–1924) (→ Media Link #c8) Prague, Fyodor Dostoyevsky's (1821–1881) (→ Media Link #c9) St. Petersburg are only the most striking examples of writers who, in contact with and in response to each other, as well as the work of Baudelaire, Balzac and Zola, created their own visions of the modern literary metropolis. 60

▲22

Though the choice of the city as the subject of art in Paris and elsewhere has a long history, perhaps the first images that come to mind when thinking of art in a modern metropolis are the works of the impressionists. A whole large range of paintings starting probably with Édouard Manet's (1832–1883) (→ Media Link #ca) *A Bar at the Folies Bergères* (*Un bar aux Folies-Bergères*, 1881–1882) (→ Media Link #cb), Claude Monet's (1840–1926) (→ Media Link #cc) *Saint Lazare Train Station* (*Gare Saint Lazare*, 1877) (→ Media Link #cd), Auguste Renoir's (1841–1919) (→ Media Link #ce) *Ball at the Moulin de la Galette* (*Bal du Moulin de la Galette*, 1876) (→ Media Link #cf) and a much more recently rediscovered Gustave Caillebotte's (1848–1894) (→ Media Link #cg) *The Floor Scrapers* (*Les Raboteurs de parquet*, 1875) (→ Media Link #ch), *Paris Street; Rainy Weather* (*Rue de Paris un jour de pluie*, 1877) and *The Europe Bridge* (*Pont de l'Europe*, 1876) (→ Media Link #ci) each in their own way established an entirely new tradition of picturing and representing the city. ⁶¹ The establishment of the artistic colony in Montmartre had a profound influence on the further development of art in Paris and other artistic metropolises. The Société des Artistes Indépendants and its Salon des Indépendants was formed in Paris in 1884 and dominated the art scene for the following decades with their annual exhibitions as well as through the Salon d'Automne. Impressionism, along with other, less established art trends that worked on the borderline of art, innovation and the popular culture flourished and spread across the continent due to a close network of artists and institutions.

Fin-de-siècle Cultural Transfers in Architecture, Theatre and Music

The way the new, innovative trends such as impressionism, caricature, music hall, operetta, cabaret and others interacted in everyday life with the popular culture has recently received much scholarly attention. ⁶² All around the continent new artistic and literary circles emerged that met, debated and often even lived in particular coffee houses another urban element so characteristic of a modern literary and artistic metropolis. In a parallel development affecting musical life in European metropolises of the time, a gradual diversification of both the genres and the public can be observed there. While opera houses continued to serve as venues of self-representation for the upper classes, despite repeated attempts to reform the genre, its architecture and the habits of the public across the continent, 63 music halls, operetta and comic theatres emerged as fundamentally middle-class venues with their own distinct repertoire and public. As Haussmannisation swept through the continent and cities were reshaped to fit the new ideal of urban planning and historicist representation, the location of these venues in the city often began to signify their symbolic importance in the eyes of the ruling elite: opera houses were built on the most representative boulevards and squares, while other venues were located in less central and less prestigious quarters. Ironically, the further away the location from the prestigious avenues, the more local and urban it tends to become. ⁶⁴ The Palais Garnier and the Dresden Opera House, constructed by the leading architects Charles Garnier (1825–1898) (→ Media Link #cj) and Gottfried Semper (1803– 1879) (→ Media Link #ck) respectively, provided the model for many opera houses across Europe: that is, a building in which the three functionally separate spaces - the foyer, the auditorium and the stage - were visibly distinguished from the outside as much as from the inside. This model was applied throughout the continent to music theatres as diverse as Odessa Opera Theatre (1887), Viennese Burgtheater (1888) and Teatro Massimo in Palermo (1897). In a parallel development, Richard Wagner's (1813–1883) (→ Media Link #cl) innovations in the realm of stage design, together with calls for further restructuring of the boxes in the auditorium to accommodate the increasing presence of the middle classes, produced an entirely new public space in which previously impossible social encounters were possible and in which the public behaved differently from the unruly and laissez faire audiences for which opera houses had been notorious before. 65 The fact that this theatre building model could be mass produced by the turn of the century and that companies such as Fellner and Helmer in Central Europe could construct over 200 public buildings, mostly theatres, in roughly thirty years, is illustrative of the intensity of the architectural, artistic and musical networks in turn-of-the-century Europe. 66 It was in these theatres that the famous music stars of the time – from composers such as Franz Liszt (1811–1886) (→ Media Link #cm) to singers such as Enrico Caruso (1873–1921) (→ Media Link #cn) and performers such as Sarah Bernhardt (1844–1923) (→ Media Link #co) – performed when they started their European tours. 67 This period also witnessed the emergence of operatic musical ensembles, such as Angelo Neumann's (1838–1910) (> Media Link #cp) Richard Wagner Ensemble, whose tours across the continent resulted in, according to one estimate, 135 performances of The Ring and 50 Wagner concerts in 1882–1883 alone. 68

▲ 24

All these developments led to the demise of Paris as the paramount capital of 19th-century Europe. At the fin de siècle, an increasingly large number of cities joined the rank of the old artistic and literary metropolises and claimed to stand on a par with them in regards metropolitan culture. This can be largely attributed to two parallel but related phenomena: the birth of a truly cosmopolitan urban culture of modernism and the development of modern nationalism. Routinely cities of secondary importance in the empire developed into centres of national literature, culture and art – Barcelona, Rome after the Italian unification, Budapest after the Austrian-Hungarian compromise 1867, fin-de-siècle Prague, Cracow, Lemberg, Kiev, Odessa, Moscow and the capitals of the Balkan states (Athens, Belgrade, Sofia) that emerged as the Ottoman Empire gradually lost its European territories are cases in point. At the same time, modern national celebrations making use of art in the same way that imperial celebrations had done so in the past, became increasingly dominant in urban space, and old urban ceremonials were transformed to fit the national agenda, too. ⁶⁹ Public discussions took place in many urban cultural venues on whether or not art should remain international or alternatively serve national goals: literature, opera and drama were especially under pressure to address nationally relevant topics, whereas operetta, vaudeville and comic theatre became increasingly a truly urban phenomenon. 70 While the literature on the development of national capitals that competed with the imperial centres and fostered a specifically national culture is huge, the number of works on imperial representation and cosmopolitan artistic and literary life in the same centres is constantly growing, too. Particularly interesting is the recent research on 19th-century Ottoman cities, from the imperial metropolis Istanbul to regional capitals such as Salonika, Aleppo, Beirut and Cairo, which demonstrates vividly what has already

been established for other "peripheral" regions such as East-Central Europe: neither did the imperial culture decay as a consequence of modernisation processes, nor was the development of regional metropolises exclusively due to cultural transfers from Western Europe or the emergence of modern nationalism. 71

▲ 25

20th Century Avant-Garde Urban Circles

The 20th century saw the birth of modernism and its futurist and urban poetics. Smaller avant-garde circles centred on specific coffee houses or other urban venues emerged in every larger city and yet remained in constant touch with other, similar centres in other cities. One example of this new cultural phenomenon is the emergence of cubism in Paris. The so-called Montparnasse group that included, among others, Albert Gleizes (1881–1953) (→ Media Link #cq), Jean Metzinger (1883–1956) (→ Media Link #cr), Henri Le Fauconnier (1881–ca. 1945) (→ Media Link #cs) and Robert Delaunay (1885–1941) (→ Media Link #ct), Fernand Léger (1881–1955) (→ Media Link #cu) and Marie Laurencin (1883– 1956) (→ Media Link #cv) – artists whose name would become synonymous with cubism – met and organised their activities in a number of Montparnasse cafés as much as in art studios. They eventually took over the hanging committee of the Salon des Indépendants, ensuring that cubist works would be shown together in one room at the exhibition in 1911. This eventually produced a scandal of massive scale and ensured that cubism would soon become one of the dominant artistic styles in Europe. 72 Avant-garde and the features associated with it – the non-conformist lifestyle, opposition to mainstream cultural values and to high culture itself – is a fundamentally urban phenomenon that could emerge and flourish only in larger cities. There is no place in this short article to enumerate all the diverse examples of artistic and literary groups that emerged in different European cities in the early 20th century and whose influence sometimes remains with us until today. Dadaism in Zurich and Berlin, Cubism, Fauvism and Surrealism in Paris, symbolism in Paris, Brussels and St. Petersburg, diverse branches of expressionism in Dresden, Berlin and Munich, Futurism in Rome, Moscow, St. Petersburg and Kiev, constructivism in Moscow and other Russian centres, Bauhaus in Weimar and Berlin, De Stijl in Amsterdam and individuals such as Oskar Kokoschka (1886–1980) (→ Media Link #cw) and Egon Schiele (1890–1918) (→ Media Link #cx) in Vienna and Edvard Munch (1863–1944) (→ Media Link #cy) in Paris, Berlin and Christiania (Oslo) are only the best known examples. Many of these movements and artists poetised the new modern metropolis in many diverse ways, and some also voiced fundamental social criticism of contemporary society. As with the art colony of 19th-century Paris, these essentially urban avant-garde movements would not have functioned in the way they did and would not have dominated public space in European cities in the early 20th century and during the interwar period had they not been linked to each other through personal, educational and career networks across the continent.⁷³ Modernist education centres soon emerged in Paris, Vienna, Munich, Berlin and St. Petersburg, with a regular circulation of artists between them. New modernist art periodicals such as "Der Sturm" in Berlin propagated avant-garde aesthetics and literary and artistic production further. This epoch also witnessed the birth of musical modernism: the works of Richard Strauss (1864–1949) (→ Media Link #cz) and Béla Bartók (1881–1945) (→ Media Link #d0) and Sergej Diagilev's (1872–1929) (→ Media Link #d1) Ballets Russes are the most illustrative examples. At the same time, urban photography, journalism and film developed: Fritz Lang's (1890– 1976) (→ Media Link #d2) Metropolis and Dziga Vertov's (1896–1954) (→ Media Link #d3) Man with a Movie Camera are the most striking examples that serve as an avant-garde tribute to the modern city in this new medium. 74

▲26

Among the many interesting (but also distressing) phenomena associated with what became known as the Generation of 1914, *Génération au Feu* or Lost Generation were the consequences for post-war Paris. The city had always been a profoundly international metropolis, and among many others, some of the most important writers of American modernism (F. Scott Fitzgerald (1896–1940) (→ Media Link #d4), Henry James (1843–1916) (→ Media Link #d5), T.S. Eliot (1888–1965) (→ Media Link #d6), Ernest Hemingway (1899–1961) (→ Media Link #d7)) spent a decade or more there and found their spiritual home under the auspices of Gertrude Stein (1874–1946) (→ Media Link #d8). With all their "gods dead, all wars fought, all faith shaken" these artists contributed to the flourishing of Paris as an artistic and literary metropolis and, at the same time, to the emergence of American modernism. Parallel developments characterise the urban life of interwar Berlin and other cities. Cabaret and Jazz emerged as a central urban phenomena during the interwar period, too. ⁷⁶

Conclusion

The 20th century is characterised by an unprecedented proliferation of modes of artistic expression and representation, assisted by the rapid technological developments of radio, television and the electronic age. The subject requires another essay in its own right. What this essay has illustrated is how and why certain urban centres have assumed dominant roles in the process of artistic and literary production, dissemination and exchange, and how, in many cases, a pattern of path dependency sets in, ensuring that the reputation is perpetuated and built upon in subsequent generations. Although we now live in a world in which more than fifty percent of the population is urban and increasingly connected, through both physical and virtual networks, certain cities – Paris, Rome, London or Vienna – continue to command a reputation for cultural creativity that derives much of its legitimacy from the historical antecedents that this essay has discussed.

A 28

Markian Prokopovych, Vienna / Rosemary Sweet, Leicester

Appendix

Bibliography

Agulhon, Maurice: Marianne into Battle: Republican Imagery and Symbolism in France, 1789–1880, Cambridge et al. 1981.

Altick, Richard Daniel: Punch: The Lively Youth of a British Institution, 1841–1851, Columbus 1997.

Bann, Stephen: Parallel Lines: Printmakers, Painters, and Photographers in Nineteenth-Century France, New Haven, CT et al. 2001.

Benedetto, Renato di: Music and Enlightenment, in: Girolamo Imbruglia (ed.): Naples in the Eighteenth Century: The Birth and Death of a Nation State, Cambridge 2000, pp. 135–154.

Benjamin, Walter: The Arcades Project, ed. by Rolf Tiedemann, Cambridge, MA 2002.

Bindman, David: Hogarth, London et al. 1981.

Blanning, Timothy C. W.: The Culture of Power and the Power of Culture: Old Regime Europe, 1660–1789, Oxford et al. 2002.

Boime, Albert: Art and the French Commune: Imagining Paris after War and Revolution, Princeton, NJ et al. 1995.

Idem: A Social History of Modern Art, Chicago, IL et al. 1990, vol. 2: Art in an Age of Bonapartism, 1800–1815.

Idem: A Social History of Modern Art, Chicago, IL et al. 2004, vol. 3: Art in an Age of Counterrevolution, 1815–1848.

Bok, Marten Jan: The Rise of Amsterdam as a Cultural Centre: The Market for Paintings, 1580–1680, in: Patrick O'Brien et al. (eds.): Urban Achievement in Early Modern Europe: Golden Ages in Antwerp, Amsterdam and London, Cambridge et al. 2001, pp. 186–209.

Boorman, Stanley: Ottaviano Petrucci: Catalogue Raisonné, Oxford et al. 2006.

Bowron, Edgar Peters et al. (eds.): Art in Rome in the Eighteenth Century, London et al. 2000.

Brewer, John: The Pleasures of the Imagination: English Culture in the Eighteenth Century, London et al. 1997.

Brooke, Peter: Albert Gleizes: For and Against the Twentieth Century, New Haven, CT et al. 2001.

Brown, Beverly Louise et al. (eds.): The Genius of Rome, 1592–1623: Published on the Occasion of the Exhibition "The Genius of Rome 1592–1623", London 2001.

Brown University Library Centre for Digital Scholarship: Paris, Capital of the 19th century, a project of the French Studies and Comparative Literature Departments of Brown University, developed and hosted by the Center for Digital Scholarship: online: http://library.brown.edu/cds/paris/ [11/02/2015].

Bucur, Maria et al. (eds.): Staging the Past: The Politics of Commemoration in Habsburg Central Europe, 1848 to the Present, West Lafayette, IN 2001.

Burden, Michael: The Lure of Aria, Procession and Spectacle: Opera in Eighteenth-Century London, in: Simon P. Keefe (ed.): The Cambridge History of Eighteenth-Century Music, Cambridge et al. 2009, pp. 385–401.

Burton, Richard D. E.: Blood in the City: Violence and Revelation in Paris, 1789-1945, Ithaca, NY 2001.

Butler, Margaret R.: Italian Opera in the Eighteenth Century, in: Simon P. Keefe (ed.): The Cambridge History of Eighteenth-Century Music, Cambridge et al. 2009, pp. 201–271.

Cate, Phillip Dennis (ed.): The Graphic Arts and French Society, 1871–1914, New Brunswick, NJ et al. 1988.

Çelik, Zeynep: Empire, Architecture, and the City: French-Ottoman Encounters, 1830–1914, Seattle, WA et al. 2008.

Idem: The Remaking of Istanbul: Portrait of an Ottoman City in the Nineteenth Century, Berkeley, CA 1993.

Chartier, Roger: The Cultural Origins of the French Revolution, Durham, NC et al. 1991.

Citron, Pierre: La poésie de Paris dans la littérature française de Rousseau à Baudelaire, Paris 1961, vol. 1–2.

Clark, Timothy J.: The Painting of Modern Life: Paris in the Art of Manet and his Followers, revised ed., Princeton, NJ 1999.

Clayson, Hollis: Paris in Despair: Art and Everyday Life under Siege (1870–71), Chicago, IL et al. 2002.

Clayton, Tim: The English Print, 1688–1802, New Haven, CT et al. 1997.

Coke, David / Borg, Alan: Vauxhall Gardens: A History, New Haven, CT et al. 2011.

Cooke, Catherine: Russian Avant-Garde: Theories of Art, Architecture and the City, London 1995.

Cooke, Philip N. et al. (eds.): Creative Cities, Cultural Clusters and Local Economic Development, Cheltenham et al. 2008.

Cowan, Brian: Areas of Connoisseurship: Auctioning Art in later Stuart England, in: Michael North et al. (eds.): Art Markets in Europe, 1400–1800, Aldershot et al. 1998, pp. 153–166.

Idem: Art and Connoisseurship in the Auction Market of later Seventeenth-Century London, in: Neil De Marchi et al. (eds.): Mapping Markets for Paintings in Europe, 1450–1750, Turnhout 2006 (Studies in European Urban History (1100–1800) 6), pp. 263–284.

Craske, Matthew: Art in Europe 1700–1830: A History of the Visual Arts in an Era of Unprecedented Urban Economic Growth, Oxford et al. 1997.

Crow, Thomas E.: Painters and Public Life in Eighteenth-Century Paris, New Haven, CT et al. 1985.

D'Souza, Aruna et al. (eds.): The Invisible *Flâneuse*? Gender, Public Space, and Visual Culture in Nineteenth-Century Paris, Manchester et al. 2006.

Darnton, Robert: The Forbidden Best-Sellers of Pre-Revolutionary France, New York, NY et al. 1996.

Idem: Gens de Lettres, Gens du Livre, Paris 1992.

Idem: The Literary Underground of the Old Regime, Cambridge, MA 1982.

De Marchi, Neil et al. (eds.): Mapping Markets for Paintings in Europe, 1450–1750, Turnhout 2006 (Studies in European Urban History (1100–1800) 6).

Dienes, Gerhard M. et al. (eds.): Fellner & Helmer: Die Architekten der Illusion: Theaterbau und Bühnenbild in Europa: Anläßlich des Jubiläums "100 Jahre Grazer Oper", Graz 1999.

Eldem, Edhem / Goffman, Daniel / Masters, Bruce Alan: The Ottoman City between East and West: Aleppo, Izmir, and Istanbul, Cambridge et al. 1999.

Ewing, Dan: Marketing Art in Antwerp, 1460-1560: Our Lady's Pand, in: The Art Bulletin, 72,4 (1990), pp. 558-584.

Exertzoglou, Haris: The Cultural Uses of Consumption: Negotiating Class, Gender, and Nation in the Ottoman Urban Centers during the 19th Century, in: International Journal of Middle East Studies 35,1 (2003), pp. 77–101.

Ferguson, Priscilla Parkhurst: Paris as Revolution: Writing the 19th-Century City, Berkeley, CA et al. 1994.

FitzGerald, Michael C.: Making Modernism: Picasso and the Creation of the Market for Twentieth-Century Art, Berkeley, CA et al. 1996.

Fitzpatrick, Martin et al. (eds.): The Enlightenment World, London et al. 2004

Freedberg, David et al. (eds.): Art in History, History in Art: Studies in Seventeenth-Century Dutch Culture, Chicago, IL 1991.

Garafola, Lynn et al. (eds.): The Ballet Russes and its World, New Haven, CT et al. 1999.

Garrioch, David: The Party of the *Philosophes*, in: Martin Fitzpatrick et al. (eds.): The Enlightenment World, London et al. 2004, pp. 426–441.

Gerhard, Anselm: The Urbanization of Opera: Music Theater in Paris in the Nineteenth Century, Chicago, IL et al. 1998.

Gibson-Wood, Carol: Picture Consumption in London at the End of the Seventeenth Century, in: The Art Bulletin, 84,3 (2002), pp. 491–500.

Gillis, John R. (ed.): Commemorations: The Politics of National Identity, Princeton, NJ 1996.

Girouard, Mark: Cities and People. A Social and Architectural History, New Haven, CT et al. 1985.

Gluck, Mary: Popular Bohemia: Modernism and Urban Culture in Nineteenth-Century Paris, Cambridge, MA et al. 2005.

Idem: Jewish Humor and Popular Culture in Fin-de-Siècle Budapest, in: Austrian History Yearbook 39 (2008), pp. 1–22.

Goldthwaite, Richard A.: Wealth and the Demand for Art in Italy, 1300-1600, Baltimore, MD et al. 1993.

Goodman, Dena: The Republic of Letters: A Cultural History of the French Enlightenment, Ithaca, NY et al. 1994.

Haine, W. Scott: The World of the Paris Café: Sociability among the French Working Class, 1789–1914, Baltimore, MD et al. 1996.

Hale, John: The Civilization of Europe in the Renaissance, London 1994.

Hall, Peter Geoffrey: Cities in Civilization: Culture, Innovation, and Urban Order, London 1998.

Hallett, Mark: Hogarth, London 2000.

Hanssen, Jens: Fin de Siècle Beirut: The Making of an Ottoman Provincial Capital, Oxford et al. 2005.

Harkness, Deborah E.: The Jewel House. Elizabethan London and the Scientific Revolution, New Haven, CT et al. 2007.

Harvey, David: Paris, Capital of Modernity, New York, NY et al. 2003.

Hay, Denys / Law, John: Italy in the Age of the Renaissance, 1380-1530, London et al. 1989.

Hesse, Carla: Print Culture in the Enlightenment, in: Martin Fitzpatrick et al. (eds.): The Enlightenment World, London et al. 2004, pp. 366–380.

Heßler, Martina et al. (eds.): Creative Urban Milieus: Historical Perspectives on Culture, Economy, and the City, Frankfurt am Main et al. 2008.

Higonnet, Patrice L.R.: Paris: Capital of the World, Cambridge, MA et al. 2002.

Hobsbawm, Eric et al. (eds.): The Invention of Tradition, Cambridge 1983.

Hoftijzer, Paul: Metropolis of Print: the Amsterdam Book Trade in the Seventeenth Century, in: Patrick O'Brien et al. (eds.): Urban Achievement in Early Modern Europe: Golden Ages in Antwerp, Amsterdam and London, Cambridge et al. 2001, pp. 249–263.

Hollingsworth, Mary: Patronage in Renaissance Italy: From 1400 to the Early Sixteenth Century, London 1994.

Holmes, William C.: Opera Observed: Views of a Florentine Impresario in the Early Eighteenth Century, Chicago, IL 1993.

Howard, Deborah: Venice and the East, New Haven 2000.

Hume, Robert: The Economics of Culture in London, 1660–1740, in: Huntington Library Quarterly, 69,4 (2006), pp. 487–533.

Imbruglia, Girolamo (ed.): Naples in the Eighteenth Century: The Birth and Death of a Nation State, Cambridge et al. 2000.

Israel, Jonathan I.: The Dutch Republic: Its Rise, Greatness and Fall, 1477–1806, Oxford 1995.

Jackson, Jeffrey H.: Making Jazz French: Music and Modern Life in Interwar Paris, Durham, NC et al. 2003.

Jacobs, Jane: The Economy of Cities, New York, NY 1969.

Johnson, James H.: Listening in Paris: A Cultural History, Berkeley, CA 1996.

Jones, Colin: Paris: Biography of a City, London et al. 2006.

Keefe, Simon P. (ed.): The Cambridge History of Eighteenth-Century Music, Cambridge et al. 2009.

Kennard, Joseph Spencer: Goldoni and the Venice of his Time, New York, NY 1920, online: http://hdl.handle.net/2027/hvd.32044011505971 [28/01/2015].

Kent, Francis W.: Lorenzo de' Medici and the Art of Magnificence, 2nd ed., Baltimore, MD 2006.

Lippincott, Louise: Selling Art in Georgian London: The Rise of Arthur Pond, New Haven, CT et al. 1983.

Lorizzo, Loredana: People and Practices in the Paintings Trade of Seventeenth-Century Rome, in: Neil De Marchi et al. (eds.): Mapping Markets for Paintings in Europe, 1450–1750, Turnhout 2006, pp. 343–362 (Studies in European Urban History (1100–1800) 6).

Lowry, Martin: The World of Aldus Manutius: Business and Scholarship in Renaissance Venice, Oxford 1979.

Mainardi, Patricia: Art and Politics of the Second Empire. The Universal Expositions of 1855 and 1867, New Haven, CT et al. 1987.

Mallett, Michael et al. (eds.): Lorenzo the Magnificent: Culture and Politics, London 1996 (Warburg Institute Colloquia 3).

Mallgrave, Harry Francis: Gottfried Semper: Architect of the Nineteenth Century, New Haven, CT et al. 1996.

Martin-Fugier, Anne: La vie élégante ou la formation du Tout-Paris, 1815–1848, Paris 1990.

Mazower, Mark: Salonica: City of Ghosts: Christians, Muslims, and Jews, 1430-1950, New York, NY 2005.

McGeary, Thomas: Farinelli's Progress to Albion: the Recruitment and Reception of Opera's "Blazing Star", in: British Journal for Eighteenth-Century Studies 28,3 (2005), pp. 339–360.

McVeigh, Simon: Concert Life in London from Mozart to Haydn, Cambridge 1993.

Meryon, Charles / Baudelaire, Charles: Paris, 1860: Eaux fortes sur Paris et "Les tableaux parisiens", Paris 2001.

Minden, Michael et al. (eds.): Fritz Lang's Metropolis: Cinematic Visions of Technology and Fear, Rochester, NY et al. 2002.

Montias, John Michael: Art at Auction in 17th Century Amsterdam, Amsterdam 2002.

Moretti, Franco: Atlas of the European Novel, 1800-1900, London et al. 1998.

Müller, Sven Oliver et al. (eds.): Die Oper im Wandel der Gesellschaft: Kulturtransfers und Netzwerke des Musiktheaters in Europa, Munich et al.2010 (Die Gesellschaft der Oper: Musikkultur europäischer Metropolen im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert 5).

Idem et al. (eds.): Bühnen der Politik: Die Oper in europäischen Gesellschaften im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert, Vienna et al. 2008 (Die Gesellschaft der Oper: Musikkultur europäischer Metropolen im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert 2).

Munck, Thomas: The Enlightenment: A Comparative Social History 1721–1794, London et al. 2000.

Neumann, Angelo: Erinnerungen an Richard Wagner, Leipzig 1907.

North, Michael et al. (eds.): Art Markets in Europe, 1400–1800, Aldershot et al. 1998.

Nuttall, Paula: From Flanders to Florence: The Impact of Netherlandish Painting, 1400–1500, New Haven, CT et al. 2004.

O'Brien, Patrick et al. (eds.): Urban Achievement in Early Modern Europe: Golden Ages in Antwerp, Amsterdam and London, Cambridge et al. 2001.

Patureau, Frédérique: Le palais Garnier dans la société parisienne, 1875–1914, Liège 1991.

Pears, Ian: The Discovery of Painting: The Growth of Interest in the Arts in England, 1680–1768, New Haven, CT et al. 1988.

Perloff, Nancy Lynn: Art and the Everyday: Popular Entertainment and the Circle of Erik Satie, Oxford 1991.

Porterfield, Todd B.: The Allure of Empire: Art in the Service of French Imperialism, 1798–1836, Princeton, NJ 1998.

Prokopovych, Markian: Habsburg Lemberg: Architecture, Public Space, and Politics in the Galician Capital, 1772–1914, West Lafayette, IN 2009.

Idem (ed.): Urban History, Cambridge 2013, vol. 40,4: Music and the City.

Idem: In the Public Eye: The Budapest Opera House, the Audience and the Press, 1884-1918, Vienna et al. 2014.

Quataert, Donald: Social Disintegration and Popular Resistance in the Ottoman Empire, 1881–1908: Reactions to European Economic Penetration, New York, NY et al. 1983.

Raven, James: The Business of Books: Booksellers and the English Book Trade, 1450–1850, New Haven, CT et al. 2007.

Idem: London and the Central Sites of the English Book Trade, in: Michael F. Suarez et al. (eds.): The Cambridge History of the Book in Britain, Cambridge 2009, vol. 5: 1695–1830, pp. 293–308.

Richardson, Carol M. (ed.): Locating Renaissance Art, New Haven, CT et al. 2007.

Rogers, Pat: Grub Street: Studies in a Subculture, London 1972.

Rosand, Ellen: Opera in Seventeenth-Century Venice: The Creation of a Genre, Berkeley, CA et al. 1991.

Rossel, André: Le Charivari: Un journal révolutionnaire: Un choix de numéros fac-similés du premier quotidien illustré, de 1832 à 1856, avec les illustrations de Daumier, Grandville, Gavarni, Travies et "les artistes les plus distingués", avec la série complète des 24 double planches de "l'Association mensuelle", Paris 1971.

Rosselli, John: The Opera Industry in Italy from Cimarosa to Verdi: The Role of the Impresario, Cambridge et al. 1984.

San Juan, Rose Marie: Rome: A City Out of Print, Minneapolis, MN et al. 2001.

Schäfer, Julia: Vermessen – gezeichnet – verlacht. Judenbilder in populären Zeitschriften 1918–1933, Frankfurt am Main et al. 2005.

Schorske, Carl E.: Fin-de-Siècle Vienna: Politics and Culture, New York, NY 1981.

Schudt, Ludwig (ed.): Le Guide di Roma: Materialen zu einer Geschichte der Römischen Topographie: Unter Benützung des handschriftlichen Nachlasses von Oskar Pollak, Vienna et al. 1930.

Schwartz, Vanessa R.: Spectacular Realities: Early Mass Culture in Fin-de-Siècle Paris, Berkeley, CA et al. 1998.

Scott, Allen John: The Cultural Economy of Cities: Essays on the Geography of Image-Producing Industries, London et al. 2000.

Idem: Social Economy of the Metropolis: Cognitive-Cultural Capitalism and the Global Resurgence of Cities, Oxford et al. 2008.

Segel, Harold B.: Turn-of-the-Century Cabaret: Paris, Barcelona, Berlin, Munich, Vienna, Cracow, Moscow, St. Petersburg, Zurich, New York, NY 1987.

Stern Shapiro, Barbara (ed.): Pleasures of Paris: Daumier to Picasso, Boston, MA 1991.

Simon, Hans-Ulrich: Sezessionismus: Kunstgewerbe in literarischer und bildender Kunst, Stuttgart 1976.

Solkin, David H.: Painting for Money: The Visual Arts and the Public Sphere in Eighteenth-Century England, New Haven, CT et al. 1992.

Stachel, Peter et al. (eds.): Wie europäisch ist die Oper? Die Geschichte des Musiktheaters als Zugang zu einer kulturellen Topographie Europas, Vienna et al. 2009 (Die Gesellschaft der Oper: Musikkultur europäischer Metropolen im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert 3).

Stainton, Lindsay: Hayward's List: British Visitors to Rome, 1753–1775, in: The Volume of the Walpole Society 49 (1983), pp. 3–36.

Suarez, Michael F. et al. (eds.): The Cambridge History of the Book in Britain, Cambridge 2009, vol. 5: 1695–1830.

Summers, Judith: The Empress of Pleasure: The Life and Adventures of Teresa Cornelys, Queen of Masquerades and Casanova's Lover, London 2003.

Sweet, Rosemary: Cities and the Grand Tour. The British in Italy, c. 1690–1820, Cambridge et al. 2012.

Topp, Leslie Elizabeth: Architecture and Truth in Fin-de- Siècle Vienna, Cambridge et al. 2004.

Truesdell, Mathew: Spectacular Politics: Louis Napoléon and the Fête Impériale, 1849-1870, New York, NY et al. 1997.

Tsivian, Yuri (ed.): Lines of Resistance: Dziga Vertov and the Twenties, Gemona del Friuli 2004.

Unowsky, Daniel L.: The Pomp and Politics of Patriotism: Imperial Celebrations in Habsburg Austria, 1848–1916, West Lafayette, IN 2005.

Van Damme, Ilja et al. (eds.): Unscrewing the Creative City: The Historical Fabrication of Cities as Agents of Economic Innovation and Creativity [forthcoming] (Urban Agency? Towards a New Urban History of Europe Since 1500).

Vezin, Annette / Vezin, Luc: Kandinsky and the Blue Rider, Paris 1992.

Weber, William: Music and the Middle Class: The Social Structure of Concert Life in London, Paris and Vienna between 1830 and 1848, Aldershot 2004.

Idem: Musical Culture and the Capital City: The Epoch of the *Beau Monde* in London, 1700–1870, in: Susan Wollenberg et al. (eds.): Concert Life in Eighteenth-Century Britain, Aldershot et al. 2004, pp. 71–89.

Weitzman, Arthur J.: Eighteenth-Century London: Urban Paradise or Fallen City?, in: Journal of the History of Ideas, 36,3 (1975), pp. 469–480.

Whiting, Steven Moore: Satie the Bohemian: From Cabaret to Concert Hall, Oxford et al. 1999.

Wilson, Edmund: Francis Scott Fitzgerald, in: Frederick J. Hoffman (ed.): The Great Gatsby: A Study, New York 1962, pp. 21–28.

Witkovsky, Matthew S. (ed.): Avant-Garde Art in Everyday Life: Early Twentieth-Century European Modernism, New Haven. CT et al. 2011.

Wollenberg, Susan et al. (eds.): Concert Life in Eighteenth-Century Britain, Aldershot et al. 2004.

Wood, Nathaniel D.: Becoming Metropolitan: Urban Selfhood and the Making of Modern Cracow, DeKalb, IL 2010.

Wood, Paul: Art in Fifteenth-Century Venice: "An Aesthetic of Diversity", in: Carol M. Richardson (ed.): Locating Renaissance Art, New Haven, CT et al. 2007, pp. 213–250.

Woodfield, Ian: Opera and Drama in Eighteenth-Century London: the King's Theatre, Garrick and the Business of Performance, Cambridge et al. 2001.

Würgler, Andreas: National and Transnational News Distribution 1400–1800, in: European History Online (EGO), published by the Leibniz Institute of European History (IEG), Mainz 2012-11-26. URL: http://www.ieg-ego.eu/wuerglera-2012-en URN: urn:nbn:de:0159-2012112605 [2015-02-04].

Zur Nieden, Gesa: Vom Grand Spectacle zur Great Season: Das Pariser Théâtre du Châtelet als Raum musikalischer Produktion und Rezeption, 1862–1914, Munich et al. 2010 (Die Gesellschaft der Oper: Musikkultur europäischer Metropolen im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert 6).

Notes

- 1. See, for example, Van Damme, Unscrewing the Creative City [forthcoming]. Also see Heßler, Creative Urban Milieus 2008.
- See Jacobs, The Economy 1969 and Hall, Cities in Civilization 1998. For recent literature within this scholarly tradition see, for example, Cooke, Creative Cities 2008; Scott, Social Economy 2008; idem, The Cultural Economy 2000.
- 3. For the purposes of this essay, our discussion will be confined to literature, the fine arts, music and theatre. Space does not permit discussion of other cultural forms.
- 4. Goldthwaite, Wealth 1993; Hume, The Economics of Culture 2006. The question of whether or not artistic

- creativity is a prerequisite of a well-functioning urban economy, however, is an issue beyond the scope of this
- Harkness, The Jewel House 2007 explores this idea in the context of the exchange of scientific knowledge and learning in 16th century London.
- Nuttall. From Flanders to Florence 2004.
- 7. [^] Hollingsworth, Patronage 1994. 8. [^] Hay / Law, Italy 1989, p. 313.
- 9. ^ Kent, Lorenzo de' Medici 2006; Mallett, Lorenzo the Magnificent 1996.
- 10. On the reputation of Florence (and Rome) as centres of artistic excellence continued through the 18th century, see Sweet, Cities and the Grand Tour 2012.
- Ewing, Marketing Art 1990.
- 11. A Ewing, Markette 2000.

 12. A Howard, Venice 2000.

 13. Fifteenth 13. Wood, Art in Fifteenth-Century Venice 2007.
- A Brown, The Genius of Rome 2001.
- 15. [^] San Juan, Rome 2001; Schudt, Le Guide di Roma 1930.
- ^ Lorizzo, People and Practices 2006.
- 16. A Lorizzo, People and 17. A Bowron, Art in Rome 2000. ^ See for example the lists of British artists in Rome such as Stainton, Hayward's List 1983.
- [^] Lowry, The World of Aldus Manutius 1979.
- [^] Boorman, Ottaviano Petrucci 2006.
- Hale, The Civilization of Europe 1994, p. 289.
- 22. ^ Hoftijzer, Metropolis of Print 2001.
- For an overview of see Israel, The Dutch Republic 1995.
- 24. While the first newspaper was printed in Strasbourg in 1605, with Amsterdam and other cities following a decade later, Amsterdam was unequivocally the dominant centre of print and news production by the middle of the 17th century. See Würgler, News Distribution 2012.

- 25. A Blanning, The Culture of Fower 2006.

 See e.g. Hume, The Economics of Culture 2006.

 The 2002: Freedberg, Art in H 27. Montias, Art at Auction 2002; Freedberg, Art in History 1991, especially part II; De Marchi, Mapping Markets 2006; Bok, The Rise of Amsterdam 2001.
- Gibson-Wood, Picture Consumption 2002; Lippincott, Selling Art 1983.
- 29. Pears, The Discovery of Painting 1988; Cowan, Areas of Connoisseurship 1998; Cowan, Art and Connoisseurship 2006.
- 30. On prints see Clayton, The English Print 1997; the literature on Hogarth is huge, but see Bindman, Hogarth 1981 or Hallett, Hogarth 2000; on the expansion of art market more generally see Craske, Art in Europe 1997.
- 31. Solkin, Painting for Money 1992.
- ^ Crow, Painters and Public Life 1985; Jones, Paris 2006, p. 215.
- 32. Crow, Painters and Public Lite 1909, Jones, Land Letters 1994.
 33. On salon culture in Paris see Goodman, The Republic of Letters 1994. 34. For overviews of the expansion of print culture and its implications see Munck, The Enlightenment 2000, chapter 4 or Hesse, Print Culture 2004.
- The Encyclopédie is accessible online under http://alembert.fr/index.php [13/02/2015].
- 35. ^ The Encyclopedie is accession. 2
 36. ^ Garrioch, The Party of the *Philosophes* 2004. 37. Darnton, The Forbidden Best-Sellers 1996; see also Chartier, The Cultural Origins 1991 who charts the declining proportion of religious publications and the cultural and political consequences of these changes in the output of printed material.
- Rogers, Grub Street 1972; Darnton, The Literary Underground 1982; idem, Gens de Lettres 1991, pp. 107–118.
- ^ Raven, The Business of Books 2007, p. 157; idem, London and the Central 2009, vol. 5.
- Weitzman, Eighteenth-Century London 1975.
- 41. Summers, The Empress of Pleasure 2003. Cornelys was widely suspected of offering rather more than simply music at her entertainments. On the emergence of the operatic impresario in Italy during this period see Holmes, Opera Observed 1993 and Rosselli, The Opera Industry 1984.
- 42. Brewer, The Pleasures 1997; Weber, Musical Culture 2004; McVeigh, Concert Life in London 1993; Woodfield, Opera and Drama 2001.
- Jones, Paris 2006; Brewer, The Pleasures 1997.

- 44. Burden, The Lure of Aria, 2009. Burden analyses how Italian opera in London responded to the demands of a broader public for less formal musical drama. He also emphasises the importance of London as a publishing and distribution centre for all kinds of music.
- Coke / Borg, Vauxhall Gardens 2011.
- 46. A Butler, Italian Opera 2009.
 47. Rosand, Opera 1991; Benedetto, Music and Enlightenment 2000.
- ^ McGeary, Farinelli's Progress 2005.
- 48. McGeary, rame.
 49. Kennard, Goldoni 1920. 50. See especially the thematic issue on music and the city of Prokopovych, Urban History 40,4 (2013) and the Böhlau series Die Gesellschaft der Oper: Musikkultur europäischen Metropolen im 19. Und 20. Jahrhundert: for example, Zur Nieden, Vom Grand Spectacle 2010; Müller, Die Oper 2010; Stachel, Wie europäisch ist die Oper? 2009: Müller, Bühnen der Politik 2008.
- ^ See an excellent online overview on the website of the project "Paris, Capital of the 19th century", initiated by the French Studies and Comparative Literature Departments of Brown University: http://library.brown.edu/cds/paris/ [11/02/2015].
- 52. Benjamin, The Arcades Project 2002.
- 53. Ferguson, Paris as Revolution 1994; Harvey, Paris 2003; Higonnet, Paris 2002; Clayson, Paris in Despair 2002; Burton, Blood in the City 2001. See also Schwartz, Spectacular Realities 1998; Truesdell, Spectacular Politics 1997; Mainardi, Art and Politics 1987.
- 54. ^ Among the large body of literature on Baudelaire, see, for example, classic Citron, La poésie de Paris 1961. A regular correspondent of current artistic periodicals of the time, Baudelaire analysed the life of the official salons and gave due credit to those who have not presented there. It was due to his critical acclaim that the artists that we find inseparable from the notion of modern culture and capitalist society in the west - Honoré Daumier, Eugène Delacroix, Constantin Guys and even Richard Wagner – received international recognition beyond their home country. The staging of his work by major composers of the time (Gabriel Fauré (1845-1924), Marc-Antoine Charpentier (1643-1704), Claude Debussy (1862-1918)) are another important highlight of how broad reaching his interests were.
- 55. Generally on art in the service of different political regimes in 19th-century France, see Boime, A Social History of Modern Art 1990, vol. 2; idem, A Social History of Modern Art 2004, vol. 3; idem, Art and the French Commune 1995; Porterfield, The Allure of Empire 1998; Agulhon, Marianne into Battle 1981. Among many interesting recent works on the new interpretation of the *flâneur* see, for example, D'Souza, The Invisible Flâneuse? 2006; Martin-Fugier, La vie élégante 1990.
- See Bann, Parallel Lines 2001; Cate, The Graphic Arts 1988.
- Later, during the Second French Empire, satirical illustrated press, especially *Le Charivari* (est. 1832) would occupy a prominent place in the public space of the French capital. The Punch, or The London Charivari (est. in 1841) was an obvious cultural transfer across the channel, and soon evolved into a major publication in its own right. The influence of French and British satirical press on the emergence of their equivalents in Central Europe, especially Viennese Kikeriki (est. 1861) and Budapest Borsszem Jankó (est. 1868) would be difficult to overestimate. See Rossel, Le Charivari 1971; Altick, Punch 1997; Schäfer, Vermessen 2005; Gluck, Jewish Humor 2008.
- On Secessionisms, see Simon, Sezessionismus 1976.
- ^ Schorske, Fin-de-Siècle Vienna 1981, pp. 208–278; Topp, Architecture 2004.
- On the way literary traditions, especially the novel, spread throughout the continent, see especially Moretti, Atlas 1998.
- See Clark, The Painting 1999; Stern Shapiro, Pleasures of Paris 1991.
- 62. See especially Gluck, Popular Bohemia 2005; Haine, The World 1996; Perloff, Art 1991; Weber, Music and the Middle Class 2004; Whiting, Satie the Bohemian 1999.
- Gerhard, The Urbanization 1998; Johnson, Listening in Paris 1996.
- ^ See the thematic issue on music and the city of Prokopovych, Urban History 40,4 (2013).
- ^ Patureau, Le palais Garnier 1991; Mallgrave, Gottfried Semper 1996.
- Dienes, Fellner & Helmer 1999.
- ^ Older venues as well as contemporary smaller orpheums, music halls and later cabarets also contributed with their own programmes that linked the European continent in a network of cultural exchange and transfer.
- Neumann, Erinnerungen 1907.

- 69. [^] Hobsbawm, The Invention 1983; Gillis, Commemorations 1996. On Central Europe, see especially Bucur, Staging the Past 2001; Unowsky, The Pomp 2005; Prokopovych, Habsburg Lemberg 2009; Wood, Becoming Metropolitan 2010.
- 70. [^] See, for example, Prokopovych, In the Public Eye 2014; Müller, Die Oper 2010; Stachel, Wie europäisch ist die Oper? 2009; Müller, Bühnen der Politik 2008.
- 71. Celik, Empire 2008; idem, The Remaking of Istanbul 1993; Eldem / Goffman / Masters, The Ottoman City 1999; Exertzoglou, The Cultural Uses 2003; Hanssen, Fin de Siècle Beirut 2005; Mazower, Salonica 2005.
- 72. See Brooke, Albert Gleizes 2001.
- 73. Witkovsky, Avant-Garde Art 2011; FitzGerald, Making Modernism 1996; Vezin / Vezin, Kandinsky 1992; Schorske, Fin-de-Siècle Vienna 1981, pp. 322, 366; Cooke, Russian Avant-Garde 1995.
- 74. Garafola, The Ballet Russes 1999; Minden, Fritz Lang's Metropolis 2002; Tsivian, Lines of Resistance 2004.
- 75. A Quoted in Wilson, Francis Scott Fitzgerald 1962, pp. 27–28.
- 76. Segel, Turn-of-the-Century Cabaret 1987. On the birth of European jazz in interwar Paris, see, for example, Jackson, Making Jazz French 2003.

This text is licensed under: CC by-nc-nd 3.0 Germany - Attribution, Noncommercial, No Derivative Works

Editor: Fridrun Rinner with Hubertus Kohle

Copy Editor: Christina Müller

Eingeordnet unter:

Crossroads > Höfe und Städte* > Metropolises Crossroads > Courts and Cities* > Metropolises

Aleppo DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4001116-1)
Amsterdam DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4001783-7)

Indices

DDC: 307, 700, 800

Locations

Antwerp DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4002364-3)
Athens DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4003366-1)
Avignon DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4004019-7)
Barcelona DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4004503-1)
Beirut DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4005348-9)
Belgrade DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4005411-1)
Benelux DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4005490-1)
Berlin DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4005728-8)
Bologna DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4007616-7)
Bruges DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4008688-1)
Brussels DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4008460-7)
Budapest DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4008684-7)

Central Europe DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4039677-0)

Cairo DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4029236-8)

```
Christiania (Oslo) DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/1013733-6)
Constantinople DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4073697-0)
Dresden DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4012995-0)
East-Central Europe DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4075753-5)
Eastern Europe DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4075739-0)
Europe DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4015701-5)
Florence DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4017581-9)
France DNB (http://d-nb.info/and/4018145-5)
Istanbul DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4027821-9)
Kiev DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4030522-3)
Krakow DNB (http://d-nb.info/qnd/4073760-3)
London DNB (http://d-nb.info/qnd/4074335-4)
Lviv DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4035304-7)
Madrid DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4036862-2)
Milan DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4037100-1)
Moscow DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4074987-3)
Munich DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4127793-4)
Naples DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4041476-0)
New York DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4042011-5)
Northern Italy DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4042547-2)
Odessa DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4043115-0)
Ottoman Empire DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4075720-1)
Palermo DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4044402-8)
Paris-Montmartre DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4102878-8)
Paris DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4044660-8)
Prague DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4076310-9)
Rome DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4050471-2)
Saloniki (Thessaloniki) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4051394-4)
Sofia DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4077502-1)
St Petersburg DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4267026-3)
Tuscany, Grand Duchy DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4119667-3)
United Kingdom DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4022153-2)
Venice DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4062501-1)
Vienna DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4066009-6)
Weimar DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4065105-8)
Western Europe DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4079215-8)
Zurich DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4068038-1)
```

Central Italy DNB d (http://d-nb.info/gnd/4039689-7)

Citation

Prokopovych, Markian; Sweet, Rosemary H.: Literary and Artistic Metropolises, in: European History Online (EGO), published by the Leibniz Institute of European History (IEG), Mainz 2015-05-13. URL: http://www.ieg-ego.eu/prokopovychm-sweetr-2015-en URN: urn:nbn:de:0159-2015050519 [YYYY-MM-DD].

When quoting this article please add the date of your last retrieval in brackets after the url. When quoting a certain passage from the article please also insert the corresponding number(s), for example 2 or 1-4.

Export citation from: HeBIS Online Catalogue (http://cbsopac.rz.uni-frankfurt.de/DB=2.1/PPNSET?PPN=358904536) WorldCat (http://www.worldcat.org/oclc/908831004)

Link #ab

• Jane Jacobs (1916–2006) VIAF 💹 🗹 (http://viaf.org/viaf/90712053) DNB 🗹 (http://d-nb.info/gnd/131595520)

Link #ac

• Colonialism and Imperialism (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/colonialism-and-imperialism/benedikt-stuchtey-colonialism-and-imperialism-1450-1950)

Link #ad

• Cultural Transfer (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/theories-and-methods/cultural-transfer/wolfgang-schmale-cultural-transfer)

Link #af

• Knowledge Transfer and Science Transfer (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/theories-and-methods/knowledge-transfer/veronika-lipphardt-david-ludwig-knowledge-transfer-and-science-transfer)

Link #ag

• Internal Migration (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/europe-on-the-road/economic-migration/leslie-page-moch-internal-migration-before-and-during-the-industrial-revolution-the-case-of-france-and-germany)

Link #ah

• Giotto di Bondone (ca. 1266–1337) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/27073355) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118539477) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd/18539477.html)



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/giotto-di-bondone-ca.-126620131337) Giotto di Bondone (ca. 1266–1337)

Link #ai



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/dante-alighieri-126520131321)

Dante Alighieri (1265–1321)

Link #aj

• Economic Networks (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/european-networks/economic-networks/christian-marx-economic-networks)

Link #al

Humanistic Letter-Writing (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/european-networks/intellectual-and-academic-networks/gabor-almasi-humanistic-letter-writing)

Link #an



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/portinari-altarpiece)

Portinari Altarpiece

Link #ao

Tommaso Portinari (1429–1501) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/172537230) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118741519)

Link #ap

Hugo van der Goes (ca. 1440–1482)
 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/42632273)

Link #aq



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/santa-maria-del-fiore)

Santa Maria del Fiore

Link #ar

• Filippo Brunelleschi (1377–1446) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/39650057) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118516086) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118516086.html)

Link #as



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/san-giovanni-baptisterium)

San Giovanni Baptisterium

Link #at

• Lorenzo de' Medici (1449–1492) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/54169908) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118574418) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118574418.html)



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/lorenzo-the-magnificent-receives-the-tribute-of-the-ambassadors)

Lorenzo the Magnificent Receives the Tribute of the Ambassadors

Link #au

• Giorgio Vasari (1511–1574) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/46768219) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118626213) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118626213.html)

Link #av

Gentile Bellini (ca. 1429–1507) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/12275353) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/101117736)

Link #aw

Mehmet II (1432–1481) VIAF
 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/86538783) DNB [™] (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118583166)
 ADB/NDB [™] (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118583166.html)



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/sultan-mehmed-ii.-fatih-143220131481)
Mehmed the Conqueror (1432–1481)

Link #ax

• Literacy (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/literacy/robert-a-houston-literacy)

Link #ay

Raphael (1483–1520) VIAF
 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/64055977) DNB [™] (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118597787)
 ADB/NDB [™] (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118597787.html)

Link #az

• Michelangelo (1475–1564) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/24585191) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118582143) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118582143.html)

Link #b0

Religious and Confessional Spaces (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/crossroads/religious-and-confessional-spaces/heinrich-richard-schmidt-religious-and-confessional-spaces)

Link #b1

Tourism (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/europe-on-the-road/the-history-of-tourism/ueli-gyr-the-history-of-tourism)

Link #b3

Link #b4

Model Classical Antiquity (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/models-and-stereotypes/model-classical-antiquity/ulrich-niggemann-kai-ruffing-model-classical-antiquity)

Link #b5

• Aldo Manutio (ca. 1450–1515) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/96325760) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118577387) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118577387.html)

Link #b6

• The "Dutch Century" (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/models-and-stereotypes/the-dutch-century/dagmar-freist-the-dutch-century)

Link #b7

• Christophe Plantin (ca. 1520–1589) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/120696841) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118741004) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118741004.html)

Link #b9

• News Distribution (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/news-distribution/andreas-wuergler-national-and-transnational-news-distribution-1400-1800)

Link #ba

• Educational Journey, Grand Tour (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/europe-on-the-road/educational-journey-grand-tour/mathis-leibetseder-educational-journey-grand-tour)

Link #bb

Versailles Model (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/models-and-stereotypes/the-versailles-model/thomas-hoepel-the-versailles-model)

Link #bc

• Confessional Migration of the Huguenots (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/europe-on-the-road/confessional-migration/ute-lotz-heumann-confessional-migration-of-the-reformed-the-huguenots)

Link #bd

• William Hogarth's (1697–1764) VIAF **Indian Hogarth's (1697–1764

Link #be

• Joseph Highmore (1692–1780) VIAF ☑ (http://viaf.org/viaf/59886794) DNB ☑ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/119103699) ADB/NDB ☑ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd119103699.html)

Link #bf

Censorship and Freedom of the Press (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/european-media/censorship-and-freedom-of-the-press/juergen-wilke-censorship-and-freedom-of-the-press)

Link #bg

• Media Genres (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/media-genres/juergen-wilke-media-genres)

Link #bh



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/frontispiece-of-the-encyclopedie)

Frontispiece of the Encyclopédie

Link #bi

• Enlightenment Philosophy (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/models-and-stereotypes/the-versailles-model/peter-jones-enlightenment-philosophy)

Link #bj

• Samuel Johnson (1709–1784) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/7406725) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118558161) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118558161.html)

Link #bk

• Daniel Defoe (1661–1731) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/39375774) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118524275) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118524275.html)

Link #bl

• Fanny Burney (1752–1840) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/95297439) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118638106) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118638106.html)

Link #bm

• European Fashion (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/models-and-stereotypes/the-spanish-century/gabriele-mentges-european-fashion-1450-1950)

Link #bn

Teresa Cornelys (1723–1797) VIAF

 ✓ (http://viaf.org/viaf/3566197) DNB ✓ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/129929484)

Link #bo

• French Revolution (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/european-media/european-media-events/rolf-reichardt-the-french-revolution-as-a-european-media-event)

Link #bp



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/vauxhall-gardens-1785)

Vauxhall Gardens 1785

Link #bq

• Farinelli (Carlo Broschi, 1705–1782) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/17319337) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/119244349) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd119244349.html)

Link #br

• Metastasio (Pietro Trapasisi, 1698–1782) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/64192672) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118733141) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd/18733141.html)

Link #bs

Translation (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/translation/mary-snell-hornby-juergen-f-schopp-translation)

Link #bt

• Carlo Goldoni (1707–1793) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/44299511) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118540505) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118540505.html)

Link #bu

• Walter Benjamin (1892–1940) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/46757196) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118509039) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118509039.html)

Link #bv

Honoré de Balzac (1799–1850) VIAF

 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/29529595) DNB
 [™] (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118506358) ADB/NDB
 [™] (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118506358.html)

Link #bw

• Charles Baudelaire (1821–1867) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/17218730) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118507184) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118507184.html)

Link #bx

• Émile Zola (1840–1902) VIAF 💹 🗹 (http://viaf.org/viaf/32004502) DNB 🗹 (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118637223) ADB/NDB 🗹 (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118637223.html)

Link #by

• Eugène Delacroix (1798–1863) VIAF ☑ C (http://viaf.org/viaf/7389086) DNB C (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118524461) ADB/NDB C (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118524461.html)

Link #bz



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/eugene-delacroix-la-liberte-guidant-le-peuple-1830)
Eugène Delacroix, La Liberté guidant le peuple 1830

Link #c0

Honoré Daumier (1808–1879) VIAF
 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/96555949) DNB [™] (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118523880)
 ADB/NDB [™] (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118523880.html)

Link #c1

• Louis-Philippe I of France (1773–1850) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/55392984) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/11864064X) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd11864064X.html)

Link #c2

Link #c3

• Industrialization (http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/threads/backgrounds/industrialization/richard-h-tilly-industrialization-as-an-historical-process)

Link #c4

• Josef Hoffmann (1870–1956) VIAF ☑ (http://viaf.org/viaf/66567152) DNB ☑ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/11855252X) ADB/NDB ☑ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd11855252X.html)

Link #c5

• Koloman Moser (1868–1918) VIAF ☑ ♂ (http://viaf.org/viaf/37018321) DNB ♂ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118737112) ADB/NDB ♂ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118737112.html)

Link #c6

• Charles Dickens (1812–1870) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/88666393) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118525239) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118525239.html)

Link #c7

• Arthur Schnitzler (1862–1931) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/82526567) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118609807) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118609807.html)

Link #c8

• Franz Kafka (1883–1924) VIAF 💹 🗹 (http://viaf.org/viaf/56611857) DNB 🗹 (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118559230) ADB/NDB 🗹 (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118559230.html)

Link #c9

• Fyodor Dostoyevsky (1821–1881) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/104023256) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118527053) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118527053.html)

Link #ca

• Édouard Manet (1832–1883) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/97379936) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/11857700X) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd11857700X.html)

Link #cb



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/a-bar-at-the-folies-bergeres)

A Bar at the Folies Bergères

Link #cc

• Claude Monet (1840–1926) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/24605513) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/11858345X) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd11858345X.html)

Link #cd



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/la-gare-saint-lazare)

La gare Saint-Lazare

Link #ce

• Auguste Renoir (1841–1919) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/29643005) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118599755) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118599755.html)

Link #cf



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/bal-du-moulin-de-la-galette)

Bal du moulin de la Galette

Link #cg

• Gustave Caillebotte (1848–1894) VIAF ☑ (http://viaf.org/viaf/71399604) DNB ☑ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118853600) ADB/NDB ☑ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118853600.html)

Link #ch



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/raboteurs-de-parquet)

Raboteurs de parquet

Link #ci



(http://www.ieg-ego.eu/en/mediainfo/pont-de-l2019europe)

Pont de l'Europe

Link #cj

• Charles Garnier (1825–1898) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/41840486) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118630903) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118630903.html)

Link #ck

• Gottfried Semper (1803–1879) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/44372667) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118613154) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118613154.html)

Link #cl

• Richard Wagner (1813–1883) VIAF ☑ ♂ (http://viaf.org/viaf/29732107) DNB ♂ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118594117) ADB/NDB ♂ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118594117.html)

Link #cm

• Franz Liszt (1811–1886) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/64199483) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118573527) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118573527.html)

Link #cn

• Enrico Caruso (1873–1921) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/2558169) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118667335) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118667335.html)

Link #co

• Sarah Bernhardt (1844–1923) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/68925417) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118509896) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118509896.html)

Link #cp

Angelo Neumann (1838–1910) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/15533495) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/116956739) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd116956739.html)

Link #cq

• Albert Gleizes (1881–1953) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/66467993) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118695363) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118695363.html)

Link #cr

Link #cs

Henri Le Fauconnier (1881–ca. 1945) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/52752552) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/128866748) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd128866748.html)

Link #ct

• Robert Delaunay (1885–1941) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/68979341) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118524496) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118524496.html)

Link #cu

• Fernand Léger (1881–1955) VIAF ☑ (http://viaf.org/viaf/34459370) DNB ☑ (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118570994) ADB/NDB ☑ (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118570994.html)

Link #cv

Link #cw

Link #cx

• Egon Schiele (1890–1918) VIAF 💹 🗹 (http://viaf.org/viaf/41850463) DNB 🗹 (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118607499) ADB/NDB 🗹 (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118607499.html)

Link #cy

• Edvard Munch (1863–1944) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/61624802) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118585738) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118585738.html)

Link #cz

• Richard Strauss (1864–1949) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/24796264) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/11861911X) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd11861911X.html)

Link #d0

Link #d1

• Sergej Diagilev (1872–1929) VIAF 💹 🗹 (http://viaf.org/viaf/67208262) DNB 🗹 (http://d-nb.info/gnd/119190907) ADB/NDB 🗹 (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd119190907.html)

Link #d2

• Fritz Lang (1890–1976) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/14802583) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118569244) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118569244.html)

Link #d3

• Dziga Vertov (1896–1954) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/27073607) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118804294) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118804294.html)

Link #d4

• F. Scott Fitzgerald (1896–1940) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/100254195) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118533592) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118533592.html)

Link #d5

Henry James (1843–1916) VIAF
 [™] (http://viaf.org/viaf/36920030) DNB [™] (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118556835)
 ADB/NDB [™] (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118556835.html)

Link #d6

• T.S. Eliot (1888–1965) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/56609282) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118529854) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118529854.html)

Link #d7

• Ernest Hemingway (1899–1961) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/97006051) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118549030) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118549030.html)

Link #d8

• Gertrude Stein (1874–1946) VIAF (http://viaf.org/viaf/22149082) DNB (http://d-nb.info/gnd/118617257) ADB/NDB (http://www.deutsche-biographie.de/pnd118617257.html)





http://www.ieg-ego.eu ISSN 2192-7405